
1 

 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No.:      

 
JON JAIME LEWIS, 
JULIE REISKIN, and 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Non-Profit Corporation, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 
 
YARD HOUSE DOWNTOWN DENVER, LLC, D/B/A YARD HOUSE, a Delaware Limited 

Liability Company, 
YARD HOUSE DENVER, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, 
YARD HOUSE USA, INC., a Delaware Corporation, and 
W2007 MVP DENVER, LLC D/B/A SHERATON DENVER, a Delaware Limited Liability 

Company, 

Defendants. 

 
COMPLAINT 

 

 
 

Plaintiffs, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submit this Complaint for 

violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et 

seq., and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act (“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. 24-34-601 et seq. 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The ADA was enacted in 1990 “[t]o establish a clear and comprehensive 

prohibition of discrimination on the basis of disability.”  42 U.S.C. § 12101(b)(1).  Twenty years 

after the passage of the ADA, Defendant discriminates against individuals who use wheelchairs 

for mobility. 
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2.         The ADA prohibits public accommodations, such as the Yard House restaurant, 

owned and operated by Defendants, from providing individuals who use wheelchairs separate, 

segregated or unequal benefits and services.  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b). 

3. Colorado’s state law equivalent, the CADA, has prohibited discrimination on the 

basis of disability since before the enactment of the ADA, and also requires that individuals who 

use wheelchairs for mobility be provided with the “full and equal enjoyment” of Defendants’ 

services, facilities, privileges and accommodations.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601. 

4. Prior to opening the restaurant in December 2010, Defendants renovated the 

interior and the entrances of the restaurant, and created a new main entrance, which is located at 

the corner of 16th Street and Tremont Place.  See photos below: 
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5. On information and belief, Defendants, either themselves or through their lessees 

and/or contractors created the new main entrance by removing a wall, and entirely constructing a 

new entrance. 

6. Even though the ADA requires that newly constructed buildings and newly 

altered parts of buildings be fully accessible, this main public entrance is accessible only by 

steps and is thus inaccessible to Plaintiffs and other persons who use wheelchairs or scooters. 

7. Plaintiffs seek an Order from this Court requiring Defendants to make Yard 

House’s new main public entrance accessible to patrons who use wheelchairs or motorized 

scooters for mobility, damages under Colorado law, and recovery of reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

JURISDICTION 
 

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 
 
§§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of 

the State of Colorado. 

9. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 
 

PARTIES 
 

10. Plaintiff Jon Jaime Lewis is and was at all times pertinent hereto a resident of the 
 
State of Colorado. 
 

11. Mr. Lewis is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking and uses a 

motorized wheelchair for mobility. 

12. Mr. Lewis is a member of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition. 
 

13. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin is and was at all times pertinent hereto a resident of the 
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State of Colorado. 
 

14. Ms. Reiskin is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking and uses 

a motorized wheelchair for mobility. 

15. Ms. Reiskin is a member of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition. 
 

16. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition is a non-profit, statewide, disability 

rights advocacy organization 

17. Defendant Yard House Downtown Denver, LLC, d/b/a Yard House (“YHDD”) is 

a Delaware limited liability company, with its principal place of business located at 7700 Irvine 

Center Drive, Suite 7700, Irvine, CA 92618. 

18. Defendant Yard House, LLC (“YHLLC”) is a Delaware limited liability 

company, with its principal place of business located at 7700 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 7700, 

Irvine, CA 92618. 

19. Yard House USA, Inc. (“YHUSA”) is a Delaware corporation, with its principal 

place of business located at 7700 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 7700, Irvine, CA 92618. 

20. Collectively YHDD, YHLLC and YHUSA will be referred to as the “Yard House 
 
Defendants.” 
 

21. W2007 MVP Denver, LLC d/b/a Sheraton Denver (“Sheraton Denver”) is a 

Delaware corporation with its principal place of business listed as c/o Whitehall Street Global 

Real Es, Attn: CFO, 85 Broad Street, New York, NY 10004. 

22. On information and belief, Sheraton Denver owns the property in which the Yard 
 
House restaurant is located.  On information and belief, Sheraton Denver leases the space in 
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which the Yard House is located to Defendant YHDD. 
 

23. On information and belief, Sheraton Denver leases the space in which the Yard 
 
House is located to Defendant YHLLC. 
 

24. On information and belief, Sheraton Denver leases the space in which the Yard 
 
House is located to Defendant YHUSA. 
 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 
 

25. YHDD does business in the State of Colorado as Yard House, a restaurant, which, 

according to its advertising, is located at 1555 Court Place, Denver, Colorado. 

26. The actual main public entrance of the Yard House is located at 16th Street and 
 
Tremont Place. 
 

27. On information and belief, Yard House opened for business in late December, 
 
2010. 
 

28. On information and belief, Defendant Sheraton Denver entered into a lease for 

with one and/or more of the Yard House Defendants in approximately April of 2010. 

29. Prior to Yard House’s opening, Defendants, either themselves or through their 

lessees and/or contractors removed a wall at the corner of 16th Street and Tremont Place and 

constructed a new main entrance.  See photo depicting pre-alteration building: 
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30. The Yard House occupies over 10,000 square feet of space, most of which was 

altered by Defendants and/or their lessees and contractors. 

31. The Yard House occupies the space formerly operated as the Bravo Ristorante. 
 

32. The Bravo Ristorante had no public entrance at 16th Street and Tremont Place. 
 

33. The space that was Bravo Ristorante and is now the Yard House was vacant for a 

period of time. 

34. This new main entrance features a striped, two-tone facade, is flanked by two gas 

fire pits, and leads into a newly constructed main entryway and host station. 

35. Patrons who enter through the new main entrance are greeted by Yard House 
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employees and, when being seated, pass by the host station and are greeted with a view of the 

bar,1 televisions and seating areas. 

36. The new main public entrance at the Yard House is accessible only by a step, 

rendering it not readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use wheelchairs.  See photo 

above. 

37. There is no indication at the main public entrance that an accessible entrance to 
 
Yard House exists.  See photo above. 
 

38. If a person using a wheelchair is tenacious enough to search the entire block to 

find an entrance, it is possible to enter the restaurant as set forth herein by a completely 

segregated, unmarked entrance half way down the city block. 

39. The only means by which an individual in a wheelchair or motorized scooter can 

access Yard House is by traveling Southeast on 16th Street, away from the new main public 

entrance, for approximately half a block, then entering through a large set of doors which lead 

into the lobby of the Sheraton hotel (“Sheraton Entrance”). 

40. The new main entrance to Yard House is separated from the Sheraton Entrance by 

the length of Yard House’s patio seating section, and a storefront for Peet’s Coffee -- a distinct 

business, unrelated to the Yard House -- and Peet’s Coffee has its own separately marked 

entrance. 

41. There is a sign on the patio railing directing customers to go to the new main 
 
 
 
 

1   Information about the Yard House is available on its website:  See, e.g., 
http://www.yardhouse.com/CO/denver/. 
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public entrance at 16th and Welton Streets.  It reads “Please see front desk to be seated. Entrance 
 
----->.”  The arrow points in the direction of the inaccessible main public entrance. 

 
 

 
 

 
42. There is no sign directing any customer to the Sheraton Entrance. 

 
43. The Sheraton Entrance does not indicate that it leads to the Yard House. 

 
44. Instead, the Sheraton Entrance is below a large silver awning in the same style as 

other awnings leading into the Sheraton hotel. 

45. There are no signs directing individuals who use wheelchairs and motorized 

scooters to the Sheraton Entrance. 

46. In order to enter the Yard House, individuals with disabilities who use 

wheelchairs or motorized scooters are required to figure out for themselves that they must travel 
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away from the new main entrance for approximately half of a block, must ignore the sign 

directing patrons to the new main entrance, must pass the intervening Peet’s Coffee storefront, 

and must enter the unmarked Sheraton Entrance. 

47. The signage directing patrons to the inaccessible new main public entrance, 

coupled with the lack of signage regarding an accessible entrance and the lack of any indication 

that patrons who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters can get into Yard House by going 

through the Sheraton Doors, results in an appearance that the only entrance to Yard House is the 

new inaccessible main public entrance. 

48. Upon entering the Sheraton Entrance, patrons who use wheelchairs or motorized 

scooters for mobility discover a back entrance to Yard House (“Back Entrance”). 

49. The Back Entrance does not offer a striped two-toned facade, is not flanked by 

fire pits, and leads to a much smaller and less visually appealing host station. 

50. On information and belief, the host station at the Back Entrance is not always 

staffed with a host, and patrons who enter there are not always greeted by Yard House 

employees. 

51. In addition, the Back Entrance leads into a narrow hallway near the restrooms and 

employee work areas. 

52. Once a patron who uses a wheelchair or motorized scooter for mobility enters the 
 
Back Entrance, he or she is at the back of the restaurant. 
 

53. After figuring out how to enter Yard House, when the host station at the Back 
 
Entrance is not staffed, individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters 
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are left to pass through the narrow hallway, navigate through the main seating section, past the 

bar and ultimately travel back up to the main entrance host station near the main public entrance. 

54. The patio of the Yard House is accessible from the inside of the restaurant only by 

a step. 

55. Patrons who do not use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility are 

permitted to enter and exit the Yard House patio through a door that is located in the center of 

the patio and leads into the main dining area via a step. 

56. Mr. Lewis is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking and uses a 

wheelchair for mobility. 

57. Mr. Lewis works in and resides in the downtown Denver area. 
 

58. On April 5, 2011, Mr. Lewis attempted to dine at Yard House. 
 

59. Mr. Lewis approached Yard House’s new main public entrance and, upon seeing 

the step, realized that it was inaccessible. 

60. Mr. Lewis then traveled Southeast on 16th Street, looking for an accessible 

entrance to Yard House. 

61. Mr. Lewis encountered the Yard House patio and, observing a closed gate and the 

small step at the patio door, continued traveling Southeast on 16th Street. 

62. Mr. Lewis next encountered the Peet’s Coffee storefront, which appeared to be, 

and in fact is, a business unrelated to Yard House. 

63. Mr. Lewis rolled in his wheelchair down the block on the 16th Street Mall until 

finally he encountered the Sheraton Entrance. 
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64. No person was staffing the Sheraton Entrance. 
 

65. There was no indication that the Sheraton Entrance led to the Yard House. 
 

66. Mr. Lewis opened two very heavy double doors in a series to get into the 
 
Sheraton Hotel. 
 

67. Only after Mr. Lewis entered the Sheraton Hotel through the double doors did he 

discover the Back Entrance to the Yard House restaurant. 

68. Mr. Lewis entered the Yard House through the Back Entrance, but he was not 

greeted by any Yard House hosts or other employees. 

69. Mr.  Lewis traveled through the back Entrance hallway near the restrooms and 

employee work stations and into the main dining area. 

70. Yard House employees witnessed Mr. Lewis enter the main dining area, but they 

did not greet him, offer to seat him, or serve him. 

71. Eventually, Mr. Lewis left without being greeted, seated, or served. 
 

72. Mr. Lewis also noticed that the Yard House has patio seating along 16th Street. 
 

73. The patio seating appeared to Mr. Lewis to be accessible only by one step from 

inside the restaurant. 

74. Mr. Lewis noticed a gate leading to the patio. 
 

75. The gate leading to the patio had a sign, which read, “Please see front desk to be 

seated. Entrance ----->.”  The arrow points in the direction of the inaccessible main public 

entrance. 

76. Mr. Lewis was denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendant’s goods, 
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services, privileges, facilities and accommodations. 
 

77. Mr. Lewis is an ordained pastor with his church. 
 

78. Mr. Lewis is the community liaison for the CCDC. 
 

79. Mr. Lewis has been a member of CCDC and has been employed by and/or 

volunteered for CCDC for many years. 

80. Mr. Lewis is a cast member in a current production of “How to Succeed in 

Business Without Really Trying,” produced and performed by the Denver-based Physically 

Handicapped Artists and Musical Actors League (“PHAMALy”).  PHAMALy is comprised of 

artists and actors with disabilities, including those who use wheelchairs.  The rehearsals for this 

production occur near the Denver Performing Arts Complex, and upcoming performances will 

occur there as well. 

81. Mr. Lewis resides in downtown Denver and uses the Regional Transportation’s 
 
District’s wheelchair accessible public transportation. 
 

82. Mr. Lewis spends most of his time in and around downtown Denver and the 

stores, shops and restaurants there. 

83. CCDC’s offices, where Mr. Lewis works three days each week, are located at 655 
 
Broadway. 
 

84. Mr. Lewis would like to dine at Yard House, and would like to be able to do so 

with friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters, and others. 

85. Mr. Lewis will dine -- and will invite his friends and colleagues who use 

wheelchairs to dine with him and others  -- at Yard House if Defendant remedies the barriers to 
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accessibility. 
 

86. Mr. Lewis has been deterred from dining at Yard House because of the barriers to 

accessibility and unequal treatment. 

87. Mr. Lewis has been deterred from inviting his friends and colleagues who use 

wheelchairs from dining with him at Yard House. 

88. In the absence of an injunction compelling Defendant to bring its restaurant into 

compliance, Defendant will continue to discriminate against individuals who use wheelchairs, 

including Mr. Lewis. 

89. Mr. Lewis has been damaged by Defendant’s discrimination and, in the absence 

of the injunction sought herein, will continue to be discriminated against by Defendant. 

90. On June 15, 2011, Plaintiff Julie Reiskin attempted to stop at the Yard House 

restaurant to get something to drink. 

91. Ms. Reiskin has multiple sclerosis (“MS”) and heat bothers her and aggravates 

the symptoms of her MS. 

92. It was a hot afternoon on June 15, 2011. 
 

93. On that date, Ms. Reiskin had a meeting scheduled downtown near the Yard 
 
House. 
 

94. Ms. Reiskin approached the main public entrance to the Yard House and 

discovered it was inaccessible to her because of the step. 

95. Ms. Reiskin looked around at the entrance to see if there was a ramp or a sign 

directing her where to go to access the restaurant.  She did not see either. 
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96. Ms. Reiskin proceeded down Tremont Place to see if she could find an accessible 

entrance. 

97. After traveling in her wheelchair the distance of the Yard House building, Ms. 

Reiskin found no accessible entrance. 

98. Ms. Reiskin turned around and rolled back to the inaccessible main public 

entrance and proceeded down the 16th Street Mall to see if she could find an accessible entrance. 

99. Ms. Reiskin rolled past the Yard House outdoor patio and encountered a gate. 
 

100. Ms. Reiskin noticed on the other side of the gate, there was one step to get into 

the restaurant. 

101. Ms. Reiskin saw a sign on the gate which read, “Please see front desk to be 

seated. Entrance ----->.”   The arrow pointed in the direction of the inaccessible main public 

entrance. 

102. Ms. Reiskin believed the Yard House is not accessible to individuals who use 

wheelchairs. 

103. Ms. Reiskin continued down 16th Street Mall and encountered Peet’s Coffee next 

to the Yard House. 

104. Ms. Reiskin needed to take a phone call at that moment and decided to enter what 

looked like the Sheraton Hotel. 

105. Because of the heat, Ms. Reiskin wanted to get inside. 
 

106. The doors on the Sheraton Hotel were very heavy to open and there was no 

automatic door opener. 
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107. Ms. Reiskin sat in the Sheraton Hotel lobby.  During her phone call, she noticed 

what she believed was an employee entrance to the Yard House, but she did not see anyone go in 

or out. 

108. There was no sign indicating the entrance was a wheelchair accessible entrance. 
 

109. Ms. Reiskin left after her call to go to her scheduled meeting. 
 

110. Ms. Reiskin did not access the Yard House. 
 

111. When Ms. Reiskin looked at the gate on the patio, she noticed there was not 

sufficient room for a person who uses a wheelchair to dine on the patio. 

112. Ms. Reiskin was denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendant's goods, 

services, privileges, facilities and accommodations. 

113. Ms. Reiskin is the Executive Director of CCDC 
 

114. Ms. Reiskin has been a member of CCDC and has volunteered for CCDC for 

many years. 

115. Ms. Reiskin’s duties include meetings with clients, members, legislators, state 

employees, etc. in and around downtown Denver. 

116. Ms. Reiskin resides in Denver and uses the Regional Transportation's 

District's wheelchair accessible public transportation. 

117. Ms. Reiskin spends a large amount of time in and around downtown Denver. 
 

118. CCDC's offices, where Ms. Reiskin works, are located at 655 Broadway. 
 

119. Ms. Reiskin would like to dine at Yard House, and would like to be able to do so 

with friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters, and others. 
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120. Three of Ms. Reiskin’s household members use wheelchairs. 
 

121. Ms. Reiskin will dine -- and will invite her friends and colleagues who use 

wheelchairs to dine with her and others  -- at Yard House if Defendant remedies the barriers to 

accessibility. 

122. Ms. Reiskin has been deterred from dining at Yard House because of the barriers 

to accessibility and unequal treatment. 

123. Ms. Reiskin has been deterred from inviting her friends and colleagues who use 

wheelchairs from dining with her at Yard House. 

124. In the absence of an injunction compelling Defendant to bring its restaurant into 

compliance, Defendant will continue to discriminate against individuals who use wheelchairs, 

including Ms. Reiskin. 

125. Ms. Reiskin has been damaged by Defendant's discrimination and, in the absence 

of the injunction sought herein, will continue to be discriminated against by Defendant. 

126. On information and belief, other CCDC members and others who use wheelchairs 

have experienced accessibility barriers at all of Defendants’ stores like those described in this 

Complaint, have been damaged by and will continue to be damaged by Defendants’ unlawful 

discrimination. 

127. CCDC is a membership organization having members who use wheelchairs 

throughout the state of Colorado. 

128. As a result of Defendants’ failures to make Yard House accessible, CCDC 

has investigated and is investigating complaints by individuals who use wheelchairs about 
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accessibility at the Yard House. 
 

129. CCDC has members who use wheelchairs who have experienced and/or are likely 

to experience barriers to accessibility at the Yard House. 

130. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence, 

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of 

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not 

encounter discrimination in -- the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations provided by places of public accommodation. 

131. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts 

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by the Defendants’ violations of the 

laws cited herein. 

132. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable, and 

perceptible injury to CCDC. 

133. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other 

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to counseling members and others who have been 

injured by Defendants’ discrimination. 

134. As set forth in this Complaint, Defendants’ discrimination has been and continues 

to be a barrier to the full participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates 

CCDC’s ability to achieve full inclusion for persons with disabilities. 

135. Defendants’ discrimination has required and continues to require CCDC to make 
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a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such 

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination. 

This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions. 

136. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not 

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of 

discrimination in the community, including that of Defendants. 

137. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are 

traceable to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed 

by the relief requested in it. 

138. CCDC’s members and their spouses, friends, relatives, and associates have been 

injured and will continue to be injured by Defendants’ discrimination. 

139. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, and the integration 

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s 

organizational purpose. 

140. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required 

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief. 

141. Defendants maintain and/or engage in policies, practices and procedures that 

violate the ADA and/or CCRA. 

142. Defendants have performed alterations to the Yard House that do not comply with 

the ADA and discriminated against individuals who use wheelchairs. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq.) 
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143. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations set forth in this 

 
Complaint as fully set forth herein. 
 

144. Title III of the ADA prohibits discrimination “on the basis of disability in the full 

and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations 

of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates 

a place of public accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 

145. Yard House is a public accommodation.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B). 
 

146. Some or all of the Yard House Defendants lease the space in which Yard House is 

located and operate the Yard House restaurant. 

147. Defendant Sheraton Hotel owns the space where the Yard House is located and 

leases that space to some or all of the Yard House Defendants. 

148. The Yard House does not provide individuals who use wheelchairs with full and 

equal enjoyment of the restaurant. 

149. The Yard House’s inaccessible, new front entrance does not provide individuals 

who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters equal, integrated access to the interior and patio of 

the Yard House. 

150. Under Title III, discrimination includes “a failure to make alterations in such a 

manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of a facility are readily 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use 

wheelchairs.”  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2); 28 C.F.R. § 36.402(a)(1). 
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151. As the regulations implementing Title III explain, “an alteration is a change to a 

place of public accommodation or a commercial facility that affects or could affect the usability 

of the building or facility or any part thereof.”  28 C.F.R. § 36.402(b). 

152. The regulations further clarify that, “[t]he phrase ‘readily accessible to and usable 

by individuals with disabilities’ . . . means, with respect to a facility or a portion of a facility, that 

it can be approached, entered, and used by individuals with disabilities (including mobility . . . 

impairments) easily and conveniently.”  28 C.F.R. pt. 36, App. B. 

153. In addition, the regulations instruct: 
 

The phrase ‘to the maximum extent feasible,’ as used in this section, applies to 
the occasional case where the nature of an existing facility makes it virtually 
impossible to comply fully with applicable accessibility standards through a 
planned alteration.  In these circumstances, the alteration shall provide the 
maximum physical accessibility feasible.  Any altered features of the facility that 
can be made accessible shall be made accessible. 

 
28 C.F.R. § 36.402(c) (emphasis added). 
 

154. The regulations further prescribe specific accessibility standards for alterations in 

restaurants.  See 28 C.F.R. § 36.406(a) (“[A]lterations subject to this part shall comply with the 

standards for accessible design published as appendix D to this part (ADAAG).”).2
 

155. ADAAG § 4.1.6 reads as follows: 
 

General.  Alterations to existing buildings and facilities shall comply with the following: 

(a) No alteration shall be undertaken which decreases or has the effect of decreasing 

 
2   The ADAAG were recently revised for buildings designed, constructed or altered after 

September 15, 2010 are to comply with the revised regulations.  See, e.g., 28 C.F.R. § 36.406. 
The Yard House was designed, constructed and altered before that date. 
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accessibility or usability of a building or facility below the requirements for new 
construction at the time of alteration. 

 
(b) If existing elements, spaces, or common areas are altered, then each such altered 
element, space, feature, or area shall comply with the applicable provisions of 4.1.1 to 
4.1.3 Minimum Requirements (for New Construction). 

 
(c) If alterations of single elements, when considered together, amount to an alteration of 
a room or space in a building or facility, the entire space shall be made accessible. 

 
. . . 

 
156. The regulations further provide: 

 
[A]n alteration that affects or could affect the usability of or access to an area 
containing a primary function shall be made so as to ensure that, to the maximum 
extent feasible, the path of travel to the altered area and the restrooms, telephones, 
and drinking fountains serving the altered area, are readily accessible to and 
usable by individuals with disabilities, unless such alterations are disproportionate 
to the overall alterations in terms of cost and scope . . . . 

 
ADAAG § 4.1.6(2). 
 

157. Defendants and/or their lessees and/or contractors created the new main entrance 

and altered the interior of Yard House following its leasing of the space in April of 2010. 

158. The main public entrance is also an area containing a primary function. 
 

159. The outdoor patio dining area is an area containing a primary function. 
 

160. The new main public entrance is not “readily accessible to and usable by” 
 
individuals who use wheelchairs. 
 

161. The installation of this new main entrance violates ADAAG § 4.1.6. 
 

162. The regulations further provide that “[a]t least one accessible route within the 

boundary of the site shall be provided from . . . public streets or sidewalk . . . .  The accessible 
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route shall, to the maximum extent feasible, coincide with the route for the general public.” 

ADAAG § 4.3.2(1). 

163. The route individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters 

are required to take to enter Yard House does not “coincide with the route for the general 

public,” but rather requires such individuals to travel away from the route used for the general 

public for half of a block while ignoring signage directing the general public to the new main 

public entrance. 

164. An “accessible route” must comply with ADAAG § 4.3 and cannot have a step. 

ADAAG §§ 4.1.6 & 4.1.3(1).   See ADAAG § 3.5 (An “accessible route” is a “continuous 

unobstructed path connecting all accessible elements and spaces of a building or facility. 

Interior accessible routes may include corridors, floors, ramps, elevators, lifts, and clear floor 

space at fixtures. Exterior accessible routes may include parking access aisles, curb ramps, 

crosswalks at vehicular ways, walks, ramps, and lifts.”). 

165. The route individuals who use wheelchairs must traverse to enter the Yard House 

is not an “accessible route.” 

166. The regulations go on to require that: “Elements and spaces of accessible facilities 

which shall be identified by the International Symbol of Accessibility . . . are . . . [a]ccessible 

entrances when not all are accessible (inaccessible entrances shall have directional signage to 

indicate the route to the nearest accessible entrance).”  ADAAG § 4.1.2(7). 

167. Defendant provides no signage directing individuals with disabilities who use 

wheelchairs or motorized scooters to the Sheraton Entrance, and neither the Sheraton Entrance 

Case 1:11-cv-01585-WYD   Document 1    Filed 06/16/11   USDC Colorado   Page 22 of 26



23 

 
 
 
nor the Back Entrance bear the International Symbol of Accessibility. 
 

168. Instead of providing signage directing individuals with disabilities who use 

wheelchairs or motorized scooters to the Sheraton Entrance, Defendant posted signage directing 

the general public away from the Back Entrance and to the new inaccessible main public 

entrance. 

169. It is also unlawful under the ADA to provide an individual with a disability or 

class of individuals with disabilities with goods, services, facilities, privileges and 

accommodations that are unequal to or separated from those afforded to non-disabled 

individuals, and services for individuals with disabilities are to be provided in the most 

“integrated setting.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A) & (B). 

170. Defendants do not ensure that individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized 

scooters for mobility, and therefore must enter Yard House through the Sheraton Entrance then 

the Back Entrance, are provided with equal, integrated access to Defendant’s goods, services, 

facilities, privileges and accommodations. 

171. Defendants have discriminated against individuals who use wheelchairs as set 

forth in this Complaint. 

172. Plaintiffs have been damaged, and, in the absence of the injunction sought herein, 

will continue to be damaged by Defendants’ discrimination. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601, et seq.) 

 
173. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations set forth in this 
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Complaint as fully set forth herein. 
 

174. Under the CADA: 
 

It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to 
refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability 
. . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 
advantages, or accommodations of a place of public accommodation[.] 

 
Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2). 
 

175. Pursuant to the implementing state regulations, the CADA is “substantially 

equivalent to Federal law, as set forth in the Americans With Disabilities Act. . . .”  3 CO ADC 

708-1:60.1(B).  The regulations further provide that “[w]henever possible, the interpretation of 

state law concerning disability shall follow the interpretations established in Federal regulations 

adopted to implement the Americans with Disabilities Act . . . and in the Federal case law 

interpreting the Americans with Disabilities Act . . . .”  3 CO ADC 708-1:60.1(C). 

176. As set forth above, Defendants have violated the CADA by denying individuals 

who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, facilities, 

services and accommodations of Yard House. 

177. Defendants’ violations of the CADA have harmed Plaintiffs and will continue to 

harm Plaintiffs in the absence of the injunction sought herein. 

178. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendants’ 
 
violations of the CADA. 
 

179. Any person who violates Section 24-34-601 “shall forfeit and pay a sum of not 

less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars to the person aggrieved thereby . . . .” 
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Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602(1). 
 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully prays: 
 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 
 

2. that this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to comply with the ADA 
 
and the CADA; 
 

3. that this Court award monetary damages to Plaintiffs to the maximum extent 

permitted; 

4. that this Court award Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 
 

5. that this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs requests a trial to the Court. 
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Dated: June 16, 2011 Respectfully submitted, 
 

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION 
LEGAL PROGRAM 

 
  /s/ Kevin W. Williams   
Kevin W. Williams 
Andrew C. Montoya 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, CO 80203 
Telephone: (303) 839-1775 
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782 
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
Address of Jon Jaime Lewis 
 
1825 Arapahoe Street, Apt. 313 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Address of Julie Reiskin: 
 
3645 Milwaukee Street 
Denver, CO 80205 
 
Address of Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 
 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, CO 80203 
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